
CONTRA COSTA SUPERIOR COURT 
MARTINEZ, CALIFORNIA 

DEPARTMENT:   33 
HEARING DATE:   02/16/17 

 
 

- 1 - 

 1.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC06-02478 
CASE NAME: DROCCO VS. LUBIN 
HEARING ON MOTION TO BE RELIEVED AS COUNSEL 
FILED BY GARY DROCCO 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Appear. 
 

  

 2.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC10-01534 
CASE NAME: JEWELL VS. BARCLAYS 
HEARING ON MOTION TO DISMISS FOR FAILURE TO BRING TO TRIAL 
FILED BY BARCLAYS CAPITAL REAL ESTATE, INC., DEUTSCHE BANK 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Continued to 2/23/17 at 9:00 a.m. 
 

  

 3.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC13-01476 
CASE NAME: PEOPLE EX REL GOODMILLER VS. BOOZE 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR SANCTIONS 
FILED BY COURTLAND BOOZE, LAURA BAKER 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Defendants’ Motion for Sanctions is denied.  The execution of the inspection order was not 
violative of the discovery cutoff or any other order issued in this case.  As this court stated in 
ruling on the Preliminary Injunction last month:  
 
“The inspection warrant was issued under Code of Civil Procedure §1822.50, et seq., which is in 
a different part of the Code of Civil Procedure from the Civil Discovery Act. Defendants have not 
cited any case that states that an inspection warrant cannot be issued after discovery has been 
closed in a related civil proceeding or that evidence obtained pursuant to an inspection warrant 
cannot be used in a civil proceeding.” 
 

  

 4.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC15-00558 
CASE NAME: WALLIS VS. NORCAL CARE 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO 1st Amended COMPLAINT of WALLIS 
FILED BY NORCAL CARE CENTERS, INC. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Defendant Norcal Care Centers’ demurrer to the Second Cause of Action of the complaint is 

overruled.  The court is satisfied that the complaint is now sufficient for pleading purposes.  

Plaintiff has added an allegation that the California Department of Public Health found a 

violation of 42 C.F.R. § 483.25, which can establish “neglect,” as defined by Welfare & 
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Institutions Code section 15610.57 (a)(1).  (See Fenimore v. Regents of University of California 

(2016) 245 Cal.App.4th 1339, 1347; FAC ¶ 18.)  Further, plaintiff has alleged facts showing that 

defendant acted recklessly, oppressively, fraudulently, or maliciously.  (See Fenimore, supra, 

245 Cal.App.4th at 1349-1350.)  Whether plaintiff can prove her allegations is for summary 

judgment or trial.  Because plaintiff has now alleged at least one viable theory of elder abuse, 

the demurrer is overruled.  (Id. at 1351.) 

 

  

 5.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC15-00558 
CASE NAME: WALLIS VS. NORCAL CARE 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR STRIKE FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT 
FILED BY NORCAL CARE CENTERS, INC. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Defendant Norcal Care Centers’ motion to strike is denied, except as to the request to strike the 

portion of the prayer seeking treble damages under Civil Code section 3345, where it is granted 

without leave to amend.  As stated in the ruling on the previous motion to strike, the court does 

not believe the Legislature intended to permit treble fines or penalties and enhanced remedies 

on the same core group of facts in a case for elder abuse resulting in physical injuries.  (See 

Turnbull & Turnbull v. ARA Transportation, Inc. (1990) 219 Cal.App.3d 811, 826-827; Balmoral 

Hotel Tenants Assn. v. Lee (1990) 226 Cal.App.3d 686, 692.)  As the later and more specific 

statute, Welfare and Institutions Code section 15657 is the sole source of enhanced remedies 

in the routine physical injury elder abuse case. 

 

  

 6.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC15-00863 
CASE NAME: STEWARD VS. PACIFIC SPECIALTY 
HEARING ON MOTION TO COMPEL RESPONSE & PRODUCTION FROM 3RD PARTY 
FILED BY PACIFIC SPECIALTY INSURANCE COMPANY 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Granted.  No opposition.  Sanctions ordered as requested in the amount of $1,765 plus 
an additional $500 as set forth on the face of the subpoena.  Documents are ordered to be 
produced by March 1, 2017. 
 

  

 7.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC15-00863 
CASE NAME: STEWARD VS. PACIFIC SPECIALTY 
FURTHER CASE MANAGEMENT CONFERENCE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Appear. 
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 8.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC15-01808 
CASE NAME: ANTIOCH-HILLCREST VS. XU 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 
FILED BY ANTIOCH-HILLCREST HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 
 Plaintiff Antioch-Hillcrest Homeowners Association’s motion for summary judgment is 
denied.  A homeowners’ association (“HOA”) that seeks to enforce CC&R’s to compel an act by 
a member owner must show that it has followed its own standards and procedures before 
pursuing mandatory injunctive relief, and that its substantive decision was made in good faith 
and was reasonable and not arbitrary or capricious.  See Ironwood Owners Ass’n IX v. Solomon 
(1986) 178 Cal.App.3d 766, 772.  A HOA must exercise its authority to approve or disapprove 
an individual homeowner’s construction or improvement plans in conformity with the declaration 
of restrictions and in good faith.  See Hannula v. Hacienda Homes (1949) 34 Cal.2d 442, 447.  
A court will review the Association’s decision to insure that it was neither arbitrary nor in 
violation of the restrictions.  See Cohen v. Kite Hill Community Ass’n (1983) 142 Cal.App.3d 
642, 652; Ironwood, supra, 178 Cal.App.3d at 771-773.   
  
 Here, the CC&R’s require submission of a change to the exterior of an owner member’s 
property by an Architectural Control Committee, composed of 3 members.  See Declaration of 
Daniel S. LaCount (“LaCount Decl.”), Exhibit A (Article X, Section 1)  The record shows that the 
HOA apparently did not have such a Committee.  The Board of Directors ultimately decided the 
roofing issue; no decisionmaking was performed by the Committee designated to do that 
analysis in the CC&R’s.  Therefore, there is a question of material fact as to whether the HOA 
followed its own procedures.   
  
 The case is similar to Ironwood Owners Association IX v. Solomon (1986) 178 
Cal.App.3d 766.  In that case, Defendant homeowners purchased property in a planned unit 
community operated under a set of CC&R’s set forth by the Plaintiff HOA.  Defendants planted 
palm trees without receiving a permit required by the CC&R’s.  Plaintiff filed a lawsuit for 
injunctive and declaratory relief, and the trial court granted summary judgment, finding that the 
planting of the trees violated the CC&R’s and ordering their removal.   
 
 The Court of Appeals affirmed in part and reversed in part.  Declaratory relief was proper 
because Defendants did not file a proper plan and never received a permit.  The CC&R’s were 
clear on these requirements.  Injunctive relief was not proper.  In seeking to enforce the 
CC&R’s, plaintiff had to show that it followed its own standards and procedures and its decision 
was made in good faith and was not arbitrary or capricious.  The record was unclear whether 
plaintiff met these requirements.  Because it had the burden on summary judgment of proving it 
met these requirements, summary judgment was improper.   
 
 As in this case, the CC&R’s in Ironwood required approval of the trees by an 
architectural committee.  However, the Court found that “the record does not document, and the 
parties do not indicate, that the architectural control committee ever met to consider whether or 
not the Solomon’s palm trees violated the standards set forth in section 4.05 of the CC&R’s.”  Id. 
at 773.  The Court explained:   
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 The CC&R’s carefully and thoroughly provide for the establishment of an Architectural 
 Control Committee and impose upon it specifically defined duties, procedures and 
 standards in the consideration of such matters.  The record, as it stands, discloses a 
 manifest disregard for these provisions:  whatever decision was made does not appear 
 to be that of the governing body or the committee designated to make the decision; no 
 findings of any sort bridge the analytic gap between the facts and the conclusions of the 
 decisionmaker, whoever that was; and the record provides no means for ascertaining 
 what standard was employed in the decisionmaking process. 
 
Id. at 773.   
 
 Additionally, the CC&R’s expressly states in Article X that if the application for an exterior 
change is submitted to the Architectural Control Committee and no response is provided within 
30 days, then the owner member can assume that the change was fully approved.  It is disputed 
whether this occurred in this case.  The HOA contends that an application for architectural 
approval was submitted on February 23, 2015 and a written denial was handed to Defendants 
on March 20, 2015, within 30 days of submission.  (Facts 15, 23 – Disputed)  However, 
Defendants contend that they did not receive a formal denial until March 28, 2015; accordingly, 
the roof could be finished (and was) in early April 2015.  (Fact 25 – Disputed)  So, there are also 
triable issues of fact as to whether Defendants were notified that their architectural application 
had been denied within 30 days of its submission.   
  
 The court rules on Plaintiff’s evidentiary objections as follows:   
 
Opposition, Exhibits A-D:  Sustained – foundation 
 
Declaration of Kenneth Kramer 
 
 Kramer Decl., paragraph 1:  Overruled 
 Kramer Decl., paragraph 2:  Sustained – speculative, lay opinion 
 Kramer Decl., paragraph 3:  Sustained:  argument, lay opinion 
 Kramer Decl., paragraph 4:  Sustained:  legal conclusion, lap opinion  
 Kramer Decl., paragraph 5:  Sustained:  argument, relevance 
 Kramer Decl., paragraph 6:  Sustained:  lay opinion, argument 
 Kramer Decl., paragraph 8:  Sustained:  lay opinion, argument 
 Kramer Decl., paragraph 9:  Sustained:  lay opinion, argument 
 Kramer Decl., paragraph 10:  Sustained:  speculation; lay opinion 
 Kramer Decl., paragraph 11:  Sustained:  speculation, lay opinion 
 Kramer Decl., paragraph 13:  Sustained:  foundation, personal knowledge 
 Kramer Decl., paragraph 14:  Sustained:  foundation, personal knowledge 
 Kramer Decl., paragraph 16: Sustained:  speculation, lay opinion 
 Kramer Decl., paragraph 17:  Sustained:  speculation, lay opinion 
 Kramer Decl., paragraph 18:  lay opinion, speculation 
 Kramer Decl., paragraph 19:  Sustained:  foundation, personal knowledge  
 Kramer Decl., paragraph 20:  Sustained:  foundation, personal knowledge 
 Kramer Decl., paragraph 20(sic):  Sustained:  lay opinion, argument 
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 Kramer Decl., paragraph 21:  Sustained:  lay opinion, argument 
 Kramer Decl., paragraph 22:  Sustained:  lay opinion, argument 
 Kramer Decl., paragraph 23:  Sustained:  speculation, lay opinion 
 
Declaration of Yong Xu 
 
 Xu Decl., paragraph 5:  Overruled 
 

  

 9.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC15-01978 
CASE NAME: HERSHEL VS. BLACK ANGUS 
HEARING ON MOTION TO COMPEL NEUROPSYCHOLOGICAL EVALUATION 
FILED BY BLACK ANGUS STEAKHOUSES, LLC, VERSA CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Granted. The court will sign the order as submitted by Defendants with their Reply to Plaintiff’s 
Opposition, which includes the specificity required by CCP 2032.320 and Carpenter v. Superior 
Court (2006) 141 CA4th 249.  

  

10.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC16-00488 
CASE NAME: BUERGI VS. CENTEX HOMES 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO 2nd Amended COMPLAINT of BUERGI 
FILED BY CENTEX HOMES, et al. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
 
              Defendants Centex Homes, Centex Homes Realty Company, and Pulte Home Corp.’s 
demurrer to the Second Amended Complaint is sustained in part and overruled in part. 
 
 
2nd Cause of Action (Negligent Misrepresentation) 
 
 Defendants’ demurrer to the cause of action for Negligent Misrepresentation is 
sustained without leave to amend.  Plaintiffs failed to allege facts sufficient to state a cause of 
action.   
 
 Plaintiffs allege Centex’s sales agent, Marina Plute, provided the initial disclosures, 
which misrepresented the actual condition of the Property.  Plaintiffs then recite a number of 
omissions from the Disclosures. (SAC, ¶84(a)-(e).) 
 
 “Negligent misrepresentation is a separate and distinct tort, a species of the tort of 
deceit. ‘Where the defendant makes false statements, honestly believing that they are true, but 
without reasonable ground for such belief, he may be liable for negligent misrepresentation, a 
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form of deceit.’ [Citation.]” (Bily v. Arthur Young & Co. (1992) 3 Cal.4th 370, 407-408.)   “‘The 
tort of negligent misrepresentation does not require scienter or intent to defraud, but it 
encompasses assertions, as fact, which is not true, made by one who has no reasonable 
ground for believing it to be true. Or a positive assertion, in a manner not warranted by the 
information of the person making it. (OCM Principal Opportunities Fund, L.P. v. CIBC World 
Markets Corp. (2007) 157 Cal.App.4th 835, 845.)    
 
 Here, Plaintiffs allege Centex’s sales agent, Marina Plute, provided the Disclosures to 
Plaintiff.  Plaintiffs identified Plute as the person in the corporation making the 
misrepresentation, but Plaintiffs failed to identify any misrepresentations allegedly made by 
Plute. Plaintiffs failed to plead assertions of fact made by Plute.  Instead, Plaintiffs recite 
omissions from Disclosures.  (SAC, ¶¶84(a)-(e) and 85(a)-(d).) While the omissions may be 
actionable, they are not the basis for a cause of action for negligent misrepresentation based on 
the representations allegedly made by the sales agent. 
 
 
3rd Cause of Action (Fraud—Concealment) 
 
 Defendants’ demurrer to the 3rd Cause of Action for Concealment is overruled.  
Plaintiffs have alleged facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action. 
 
  “‘In California, fraud must be pled specifically; general and conclusory allegations do not 
suffice. [Citations.] 'Thus the policy of liberal construction of the pleadings . . . will not ordinarily 
be invoked to sustain a pleading defective in any material respect.'  [Citation.] This particularity 
requirement necessitates pleading facts which ‘show how, when, where, to whom, and by what 
means the representations were tendered. ’” Small v. Fritz Companies, Inc. (2003) 30 Cal.4th 
167, 184.  
 
 “Concealment is a species of fraud or deceit. [Citation] ‘[T]he elements of an action for 
fraud and deceit based on concealment are: (1) the defendant must have concealed or 
suppressed a material fact, (2) the defendant must have been under a duty to disclose the fact 
to the plaintiff, (3) the defendant must have intentionally concealed or suppressed the fact with 
the intent to defraud the plaintiff, (4) the plaintiff must have been unaware of the fact and would 
not have acted as he did if he had known of the concealed or suppressed fact, and (5) as a 
result of the concealment or suppression of the fact, the plaintiff must have sustained damage.”  
Blickman Turkus, LP v. MF Downtown Sunnyvale, LLC (2008) 162 Cal.App.4th 858, 868.     
 
 Here, Plaintiffs have alleged facts to support each element of the cause of action. 
Plaintiffs allege that Centex’ sales manager, Marina Plute (who), provided the Disclosures on or 
about January 15, 2006 (when), at the onsite sales office (where).  Plaintiffs allege the 
Disclosures misrepresented the actual condition of the property by omitting and concealing 
material facts from Plaintiffs (to whom) as part of the disclosures (means.) (SAC, ¶95(a)-(f).)  
 
 Plaintiffs further alleged that Marina Plute made the omissions (provided in the 
Disclosures) in the ordinary course of her employment duties, under the direct supervision of 
and pursuant to the instructions of Centex. (SAC, ¶¶ 16 and 34.)  She had authority to speak for 
Centex.   



CONTRA COSTA SUPERIOR COURT 
MARTINEZ, CALIFORNIA 

DEPARTMENT:   33 
HEARING DATE:   02/16/17 

 
 

- 7 - 

 
 Plaintiffs allege Defendants concealed material facts from the Disclosures.  (SAC, ¶¶95-
98)  Plaintiffs allege Defendants had a duty to disclose the facts.  (SAC, ¶100-101.) Plaintiffs 
allege Defendants’ concealment of material facts induced Plaintiffs to purchase the Property for 
close to a million dollars.  (SAC, ¶106.)  Plaintiffs allege that justifiable reliance in purchasing the 
Property.  Plaintiffs have alleged facts, if proven, establish the elements of the cause of action 
for concealment. 
 
 
4th C/A—Violation of Business & Professions Code §17200 et seq. 
 
 Defendants’ demurrer to the cause of action for unfair business practices is overruled. 
   
  “A plaintiff alleging unfair business practices under these statutes must state 
with reasonable particularity the facts supporting the statutory elements of the violation. (Khoury 
v. Maly's of California, Inc. (1993) 14 Cal.App.4th 612, 619.)  A cause of action for unfair 
business practices is generally derivative of some other illegal conduct or fraud committed by a 
defendant. Castaneda v. Saxon Mortg. Servs. (E.D.Cal. Feb. 25, 2010) 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 
17235, at *20.   
 
  “Unlike common law fraud, a Business and Professions Code section 17200 violation 
can be shown even without allegations of actual deception, reasonable reliance and damage. 
Historically, the term “fraudulent,” as used in the UCL, has required only a showing that 
members of the public are likely to be deceived.” (Daugherty v. American Honda Motor Co., Inc. 
(2006) 144 Cal.App.4th 824, 838.    
 
 Defendants’ failure to disclose information it had a duty to disclose is likely to deceive 
members of the public. Plaintiff has alleged an underlying cause of action to support the UCL 
claim. 
 
 
Issue of Sham Pleading 
 
 Defendants expressed concern that the certain allegations, Paragraph 70 of the First 
Amended Complaint were omitted in the Second Amended Complaint.  Plaintiffs’ counsel, 
Matthew Schoech filed a declaration stating that inclusion of ¶70 as representations made by 
Defendant were intended to be omissions by Defendants.  Plaintiff offered an explanation for the 
exclusion in the subsequent amended complaint. 
 
 
Defendants’ Request for Judicial Notice 
 
 1.  Exhibit 1—Tentative Ruling on Demurrer to FAC 
 2. Exhibit 2—First Amended Complaint 
The unopposed motion is granted, except the court does not take judicial notice of the truth of 
matters asserted therein. 
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Plaintiffs’ Request for Judicial Notice 
Plaintiffs request the court to take judicial notice of the following: 

1.  Exhibit A—Plaintiff’s Opposition to Defendants’ Demurrer to Plaintiffs’ First Amended 
Complaint. 

The unopposed motion is granted, except the court does not take judicial notice of the truth of 
matters asserted therein. 
 

  

11.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC16-00488 
CASE NAME: BUERGI VS. CENTEX HOMES 
HEARING ON MOTION TO/FOR STRIKE PORTIONS OF SECOND AMENDED 
COMPLT FILED BY CENTEX HOMES, CENTEX HOMES REALTY COMPANY, PULTE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
            Defendants Centex Homes, Centex Homes Realty Company, and Pulte Home Corp.’s 
Motion to Strike is granted in part and denied in part.    
 

A. Punitive Damages  

 Defendants’ motion to strike the following references to punitive damages is denied. 

1.  Page 26, ¶105, Lines 16-21; 

2.  Page 27, ¶107, Lines 10-11; 

3.  Page 33, Prayer for Relief on Third Cause of Action, Line 23, “For punitive and exemplary 

damages” 

 Punitive or exemplary damages are remedies available to a party who can plead and 

prove the facts and circumstances set forth in Civil Code section 3294.    

   Fraud is itself an adequate basis for awarding punitive damages.” Miller v. National 

American Life Ins. Co. (1976) 54 Cal.App.3d 331, 336.    

 

B. Injunctive Relief 

 Defendants’ motion to strike the request for injunctive relief, Page 34, Prayer for Relief 

on Fourth Cause of Action, Lines 3-7, “For permanent injunction” is granted. 

  Business & Professions Code §17203 provides in part: “Any person who 
engages, has engaged, or proposes to engage in unfair competition may be enjoined in 
any court of competent jurisdiction.”  Defendants argue Plaintiffs have not allege on-
going conduct to justify injunctive relief.  The court agrees. 
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C. Attorney’s Fees 

 Defendants’ request to strike prayer for recovery of attorney’s fees, Page 34, Prayer for 

Relief on Fourth Cause of Action, Line 4, “Attorneys’ fees and litigation costs pursuant to CCP 

§1021.5, is granted. 

    Attorney’s fees are not recoverable absent an express statute or contractual 
provisions.  (CP § 1021.)  Here, Plaintiffs rely on CCP § 1021.5, but the private attorney 
general doctrine is inapplicable.  To obtain attorney fees under section 1021.5, the party 
seeking fees must show that the litigation: “‘(1) served to vindicate an important public 
right; (2) conferred a significant benefit on the general public or a large class of persons; 
and (3) [was necessary and] imposed a financial burden on plaintiffs which was out of 
proportion to their individual stake in the matter.’[Citations.]”  Each must be satisfied to 
justify a fee award.  (City of Maywood v. Los Angeles Unified School Dist. (2012) 208 
Cal.App.4th 362, 429.)    
 
 Plaintiffs have not alleged facts showing the action was brought to enforce an important 

right affecting the public interest or that there is a significant public benefit.    

  
    
 

  

12.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC16-00888 
CASE NAME: UNIFY VS. DONES 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 
FILED BY UNIFY FINANCIAL CREDIT UNION 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 

Plaintiff Unify Financial Credit Union’s motion for summary judgment and alternatively 

summary adjudication is granted.  

Defendants have appeared in this case and were served with this motion, but have not 

filed an opposition. In addition, the Court has reviewed the motion to determine if judgment is 

appropriate as a matter of law. The Court finds that judgment in Plaintiff’s favor is appropriate 

here.  

Plaintiff’s complaint is based on two separate agreement. Each agreement was made 

between Defendants and Plaintiff or Plaintiff’s predecessor. (See Jennings Decl. ¶¶ 37-40.) 

As to agreement 1, Plaintiff has presented evidence to support its breach of contract 

claim in cause of action one. The evidence shows: an agreement (Jennings Decl. ¶¶ 8-10 and 

Ex. 1); Plaintiff’s performance (Jennings Decl. ¶13); Defendants’ breach by failure to pay 

amounts owed (Jennings Decl. ¶ 11); and Plaintiff’s damage from Defendants’ breach (Jennings 

Decl. ¶12). Therefore, as to cause of action one, the Court finds that Plaintiff is entitled to 

judgment in the amount of $5,275.02 plus pre-judgment interest. Causes of action two and three 
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are also based upon agreement 1, and having ruled in Plaintiff’s favor as to cause of action one, 

the Court need not reach these claims.  

As to agreement 2, Plaintiff has presented evidence to support its breach of contract 

claim in cause of action four. The evidence shows: an agreement (Jennings Decl. ¶¶ 21-23 and 

Ex. 3); Plaintiff’s performance (Jennings Decl. ¶26); Defendants’ breach by failure to pay 

amounts owed (Jennings Decl. ¶ 24); and Plaintiff’s damage from Defendants’ breach (Jennings 

Decl. ¶25). Therefore, as to cause of action four, the Court finds that Plaintiff is entitled to 

judgment in the amount of $41,519.17 plus pre-judgment interest. Cause of action five is also 

based on agreement 2, and having ruled in Plaintiff’s favor as to cause of action four, the Court 

need not reach this claim. 

Thus, the total amount from causes of action one and four is $5,275.02 plus $41,519.17 

for a total of $46,794.19. 

Attorney’s Fees and Costs 

For each cause of action Plaintiff claims its reasonable attorney’s fees and costs. 

Although the Court was able to locate the attorney’s fees clauses in each of the agreements, 

they were not clearly identified by the Plaintiff in any of the papers. To make matters worse, the 

attorney’s fees clauses are said to be in the “Attorney Fees and Court Costs” sections. (Rocha 

Decl. ¶¶ 3 and 5.) However, the relevant clauses are in the Default section and the Collection 

Costs section. (Rocha Decl. Exs. A & C.) In the future, the Court expects Plaintiff and its 

attorneys to identify the paragraph number, or otherwise clearly identify a specific location, when 

referring to a clauses in an agreement.   

In each of the causes of action, Plaintiff seeks attorney’s fees of $5,182.50 and costs of 

$1,060.00. The proposed order is also drafted so that it would add the fees and costs separately 

to each of the five causes of action. Plaintiff is not entitled to multiple awards of attorney’s fees 

and costs for the same work. Therefore, the Court orders that Plaintiff is entitled to one award of 

attorney’s fees in the amount of $5,182.50 and one award of costs in the amount $1,060.00 for 

the entire complaint. 

Conclusion 

The Court grants Plaintiff’s motion for summary judgment. The Court finds that Plaintiff Unify 
Financial Credit Union is entitled to judgment against Defendants Joseph Dones and Patricia 
Dones in the amount of $46,794.19 plus pre-judgment interest from March 30, 2016. In addition, 
Plaintiff is awarded its reasonable attorney’s fees of $5,182.50 and costs of $1,060.00. 
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13.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC16-00978 
CASE NAME: JUNIEL VS. OCWEN 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADINGS 
FILED BY OCWEN LOAN SERVICING, LLC, WESTERN PROGRESSIVE, LLC 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Before the Court is a Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings (“MJOP”) filed by Defendant Ocwen 
Loan Servicing, LLC (“Ocwen”) and Defendant Western Progressive, LLC (“Western”) 
(collectively, “Defendants”). The MJOP relates to the Complaint filed by Plaintiff James Juniel 
(“Plaintiff” or “Juniel”). The Complaint pleads causes of action for (1) wrongful foreclosure (Civ. 
Code § 2923.6); (2) failure to engage in loss mitigation (Civ. Code § 2923.55); (3) failure to 
engage in loss mitigation (Civ. Code § 2924.9); (4) failure to assign a single point of contact 
(Civ. Code § 2923.7); (5) violation of Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 17200, et seq. in Loan 
Servicing; (6) negligence; (7) failure to provide written acknowledgment of received loan 
modification documents (Civ. Code § 2924.10); (8) wrongful foreclosure (Civ. Code 
§ 2924(a)(6)); (9) breach of contract; (10) quiet title; (11) declaratory relief.  

The Court notes that Plaintiff’s Opposition fails to comply with California Rule of Court 3.1113(f) 
as it fails to include either a table of contents or table of authorities, despite being in excess of 
ten pages.  

Standard 

A Defendant may move for judgment on the pleadings if a complaint does not state facts 
sufficient to constitute a cause of action against that Defendant. Code Civ. Proc. 
§ 438(c)(1)(B)(ii). The grounds for the motion must appear on the face of the challenged 
pleading or from matters that may be judicially noticed. Code Civ. Proc. § 438(d). The Court 
must accept as true all material facts property pleaded, but does not consider conclusions of law 
or fact, opinions, speculation, or allegations contrary to law or facts that are judicially noticed. 
Stevenson Real Estate Servs., Inc. v. CB Richard Ellis Real Estate Servs., Inc. (2006) 138 
Cal.App.4th 1215, 1219-20. 

For the following reasons, the MJOP is granted-in-part and denied-in-part. 

Request for Judicial Notice 

Defendants Request Judicial Notice of several Contra Costa County Recorder Office records. 
Plaintiff objects that these documents are not properly pled in Defendants notice of motion 
pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure § 438(d). The Request is granted. Evid. Code § 452. 

Factual Background 

This is an unlawful foreclosure action. The complaint alleges that Plaintiff “brings this action 
against the defendants for damages and harm resulting from the defendants’ willful and reckless 
violations of California law relating to the servicing of a residential mortgage” and that “[t]he 
residential mortgage concerns the real property located at 561 12th Street, Richmond, California 
94801.” Complaint at ¶¶ 1, 2. The Deed of Trust for the property identifies “Canary Juniel” as the 
borrower. RJN Ex. 1. The Complaint alleges that “[a]t all times Plaintiff has lived in the family 
home located at 561 12th Street, Richmond, California 94801 as [his] primary residence.” 
Complaint at ¶ 12. The Complaint also alleges that Plaintiff was taking care of his mother full 
time until her death on May 9, 2012. Id. at ¶ 16. Plaintiff alleges that in the summer of 2013 he 
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applied for a loan modification on behalf of his mother’s estate with the intention of personally 
assuming the mortgage once the estate was resolved through the Court’s process. Id. at ¶ 18. 
He alleges that he received a proposed modification agreement from Ocwen on August 23, 
2013. Id. at ¶ 20. He further alleges that he received an account statement on October 17, 2013 
that acknowledged his modification agreement with Ocwen and listed a forbearance payment on 
it. Id. at ¶ 21. Plaintiff alleges that he made several payments on this agreement until Ocwen 
rejected his payments. Id. He was then told, notwithstanding his previous agreement with 
Ocwen, that he was required to pay the entire arrearage before it would make the modification 
permanent. Id. at 22. Plaintiff was later offered a second modification agreement on September 
2, 2014 that he accepted. Id. at 24. Plaintiff alleges, however, that Ocwen rejected his third trial 
payment plan payment. Id. at ¶ 25. He was once again told that he had to pay the entire 
arrearage in order to make the modification permanent, notwithstanding the terms of the 
payment plan. Id. at ¶ 27. Plaintiff continued to engage with Ocwen and submitted a third 
completed loan modification application on July 11, 2015. Id. at ¶ 28. Prior to final decision on 
this application, Western recorded a Notice of Default against the property. Id. at ¶ 34. A Notice 
of Trustee’s Sale was recorded on April 18, 2016. Id. at ¶ 41. This Complaint followed on May 
19, 2016. 

Analysis 

 Standing under HBOR 

Defendants’ principal argument is that Plaintiff is not the “borrower” for the purposes of HBOR 
and, as a consequence, lacks standing to assert HBOR claims. Defendants are correct. 

Section 2920.5 subsection (c)(1) defines “borrower” as “any natural person who is a mortgagor 
or trustor and who is potentially eligible for any federal, state, or proprietary foreclosure 
prevention alternative program offered by, or through, his or her mortgage servicer.” Civ. Code 
§ 2920.5. The Complaint does not allege that James Juniel is a borrower; instead, he is the 
successor in interest to his mother Canary Juniel’s estate. See Complaint at ¶¶ 18, 19. In 
Opposition, Plaintiff points to HAMP Handbook Guidelines and RESPA servicing rules which 
would appear to apply to successors-in-interest heirs, however, neither the HAMP guidelines 
nor the RESPA servicing rules can overcome the statutory requirements of “borrower” under 
HBOR. While it is true the Survivor’s Bill of Rights (“SBOR”) would appear to provide Plaintiff 
with standing to bring his HBOR claims, it is also true that this statute, enacted January 1, 2017, 
does not have retroactive effect. See Civ. Code § 3 (no part of code retroactive “unless 
expressly so declared.”).  

As a consequence, the MJOP as to Plaintiff’s HBOR causes of action (first through fourth, 
seventh, and eighth causes of action) is granted, without leave to amend. 

Statutory Immunity for Foreclosure Trustees 

A foreclosure trustee is entitled to broad statutory immunity under Civil Code § 2924 
subsections (b) and (d). Subsection (b) establishes that “the trustee shall incur no liability for any 
good faith error resulting from reliance on information provided in good faith by the beneficiary 
regarding the nature and amount of the default under the secured obligation, deed of trust, or 
mortgage.” Cal. Civ. Code § 2924(b). The performance of statutorily required non-judicial 
foreclosure procedures is considered privileged communications under the qualified common-
interest privilege of California Civil Code Section 47(c)(1). See Kachlon v. Markowitz (2008) 168 
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Cal.App.4th 316, 333. Such actions are immune from tort liability absent a showing of malice. Id. 
at 340; see also Cal. Civ. Code § 47(c)(1). In Kachlon, the court agreed that recordation of the 
notice of default was privileged and therefore immune from tort liability. Kachlon, 168 
Cal.App.4th at 344.  

Plaintiff alleges that Western Progressive acted with malice and as a consequence is not 
entitled to statutory immunity. However, Plaintiff’s only malice allegation is that Defendant 
Western was on notice that there was an irregularity in the Deeds as a consequence of a failure 
to record an assignment of the deed of trust. Complaint at ¶ 44. As a threshold matter, California 
law does not require that the assignment of a deed of trust be recorded. See Herrera v. Federal 
National Mortgage Assn. (2012) 205 Cal.App.4th 1495, 1506 (demurrer based on lack of 
recorded assignment sustained because “the lender could have assigned the note to the 
beneficiary in an unrecorded document not disclosed to plaintiffs”). Furthermore, even if a 
recorded assignment were required, the transfer of Plaintiffs’ loan to a securitized trust after the 
trust close date is a transaction that is merely voidable, not void. See Mendoza v. JPMorgan 
Chase Bank, N.A. (2016) 6 Cal.App.5th 802, 816 (an untimely assignment to a securitized trust 
made after the trust’s closing date is merely voidable); see also Saterbak v. JPMorgan Chase 
Bank, N.A. (2016) 245 Cal.App.4th 808, 815 (same); see also Yvanova v. New Century 
Mortgage Corp. (2016) 62 Cal.4th 919, 942 (whether such an assignment should be deemed 
void or voidable “is outside the limited scope of our review”). 

Plaintiff’s allegations of malice are insufficient to overcome the statutory immunity provided to 
Western Progressive pursuant to § 2924. The MJOP with respect to Western Progressive is 
granted, with leave to amend. 

Business and Professions Code § 17200 (fifth cause of action) 

California’s unfair competition law (UCL), Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200 et seq., prohibits 

unfair competition, which is defined as any unlawful, unfair or fraudulent business act or 

practice. § 17200. A claim may be brought under the UCL by a person who has suffered injury 

in fact and has lost money or property as a result of unfair competition. Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 

17204. Therefore, to establish standing under the UCL, a plaintiff must (1) establish a loss or 

deprivation of money sufficient to qualify as injury in fact, i.e., economic injury, and (2) show that 

the economic injury was the result of, i.e., caused by, the unfair business practice that is the 

gravamen of the claim. See Kwikset Corp. v. Superior Court (2011) 51 Cal.4th 310, 337 

(“Kwikset”). Restitution is the only form of damages available under the UCL. See Korea Supply 

Co. v. Lockheed Martin Corp. (2002) 29 Cal.4th 1134, 1147. 

Here, the alleged unfair conduct complained of is that Ocwen negligently engaged with Plaintiff 

in the loan modification process, then entered into loan modification agreements with Plaintiff 

that it breached. Specifically, that twice Plaintiff entered into trial payment plans with Ocwen, 

and each time Plaintiff’s third payment under the plan was rejected and Ocwen demanded the 

entire arrearage. However, Plaintiff’s Complaint is bereft of allegations which would demonstrate 

economic injury and causation. In the absence of allegations that he incurred a “personal, 

individualized loss of money or property in any nontrivial amount” (Kwikset, supra, 51 Cal.4th at 

p. 325), such as late fees and penalties, that were caused by Ocwen’s unfair and fraudulent 
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conduct, Plaintiff has not alleged facts sufficient to state a cause of action for violation of 

Business and Professions Code § 17200. 

The MJOP to the fifth cause of action is granted, with leave to amend. 

Negligence (sixth cause of action) 

To state a cause of action for negligence, a plaintiff must allege: (1) the defendant owed the 
plaintiff a duty of care; (2) the defendant breached that duty, and (3) the breach proximately 
caused the plaintiff’s damages or injuries. Lueras v. BAC Home Loans Servicing, LP (2013) 221 
Cal. App. 4th 49, 62. “The existence of a duty of care owed by a defendant to a plaintiff is a 
prerequisite to establish a claim for negligence.” Nymark v. Heart Fed. Savings & Loan Ass’n 
(1991) 231 Cal. App. 3d 1089, 1096.  

A lender may owe a borrower duties of care in the context of foreclosure litigation. See Daniels 
v. Select Portfolio Servicing, Inc. (6th Dist. 2016) 246 Cal.App.4th 1150, 1158, 1180-1182; see 
also Alvarez v. BAC Home Loans Servicing, L.P. (1st Dist. 2014) 228 Cal.App.4th 941, 944-949; 
see also Jolley v. Chase Home Finance, LLC (1st Dist. 2013) 213 Cal. App. 4th 872. 

There is nothing in the text of these cases which limits the duty of care to borrowers under the 
statutory definition of § 2920.5(c)(1). However, the Complaint fails to allege significant negligent 
conduct with respect to Defendants. 

The MJOP to the sixth cause of action is granted, with leave to amend. 

Breach of Contract (ninth cause of action) 

“[T]he elements of a cause of action for breach of contract are (1) the existence of the contract, 
(2) plaintiff’s performance or excuse for nonperformance, (3) defendant’s breach, and (4) the 
resulting damages to the plaintiff.” Oasis W. Realty, LLC v. Goldman (2011) 51 Cal.4th 811, 
821. 

Plaintiff has alleged that he entered into two written loan modification agreements with Ocwen, 
that he made the required trial payments on the plan, that Ocwen breached the agreement by 
demanding the entire arrearage and failing to offer a permanent loan modification, and that he 
was damaged as a result. Complaint ¶¶ 136-140. 

Defendants’ MJOP to the ninth cause of action is denied. 

Quiet Title (tenth cause of action) 

The elements of an action to quiet title are: (1) “the plaintiff is the owner and in possession of the 
land,” and (2) “the defendant claims an interest therein adverse to [the plaintiff].” South Shore 
Land Co. v. Petersen (1964) 226 Cal.App.2d 725, 740-741; see also Code Civ. Proc. § 761.020. 
Generally, a borrower may not quiet title against a secured lender without first paying the 
outstanding debt on which the mortgage or deed of trust is based. Miller v. Provost (1994) 26 
Cal.App.4th 1703, 1707 (“mortgagor of real property cannot, without paying his debt, quiet his 
title against the mortgagee”); Aguilar v. Bocci (1974) 39 Cal.App.3d 475, 477 (borrower cannot 
quiet title without discharging the debt.). A cloud on title remains until the debt is paid. Burns v. 
Hiatt (1906) 149 Cal. 617, 620-622. 

Plaintiff is neither the mortgagor nor has he alleged tender. Furthermore, his claim is 
procedurally defective for lack of compliance with the requirements of Code of Civil Procedure 
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§ 761.020. 

Defendants’ MJOP to the tenth cause of action is granted, with leave to amend. 

Declaratory Relief (eleventh cause of action) 

Declaratory relief is available to “[a]ny person interested under a written instrument . . . who 
desires a declaration of his or her rights or duties with respect to another, or in respect to, in, 
over or upon property . . . in cases of actual controversy relating to the legal rights and duties of 
the respective parties . . . .” Code Civ. Proc., § 1060; see Maguire v. Hibernia S. & L. Soc. 
(1944) 23 Cal.2d 719, 728 (“[a] complaint for declaratory relief is legally sufficient if it sets forth 
facts showing the existence of an actual controversy relating to the legal rights and duties of the 
respective parties under a written instrument and requests that these rights and duties be 
adjudged by the court”); Graham v. Bank of America, N.A. (2014) 226 Cal.App.4th 594, 615. 

Defendants contend that this cause of action is derivative of Plaintiff’s other claims. Plaintiff’s 
opposition is largely non-responsive to this argument, instead seeking to amend this cause of 
action to include facts with respect to alleged defective securitization of the loan. However, as 
discussed further, above, this does not confer standing on Plaintiff to challenge the assignment 
of the deed of trust.  

Defendants’ MJOP to the eleventh cause of action is granted, with leave to amend. 

Violation of Preliminary Injunction 

Plaintiff filed a notice to the Court on February 6, 2017 that Western Progressive had violated 
the preliminary injunction in this case by recording a Notice of Trustee’s Sale on January 25, 
2017 and noticing a foreclosure sale for March 8, 2017. However, the Court cannot take judicial 
notice of the documents attached to the Notice as they are not legible. Nevertheless, 
Defendants have responded that the Notice of Trustee’s Sale and foreclosure sale were 
recorded through inadvertence, and have provided the Court with a copy of a Notice of 
Rescission of Notice of Default, recorded February 6, 2017. 
 

  

14.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC16-00978 
CASE NAME: JUNIEL VS. OCWEN 
FURTHER CASE MANAGEMENT CONFERENCE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Appear. 
 

  

15.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC16-01413 
CASE NAME: HITCHINS VS. BOREM 
HEARING ON MOTION TO SET ASIDE DEFAULT OF RENEE BOREM & NEIL HUBOER 
FILED BY NEIL HUBLER, RENEE BOREM 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
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Defendants’ motion to set aside default is granted as to Defendant Neil Hubler and 

denied as to Defendant Renee Borem. The default as to Hubler is ordered to be set aside and 

Hubler is ordered to file and serve the proposed demurrer by February 23, 2017. 

Both Defendants have moved to set aside their defaults. The parties agree that the 

Defendants did not obtain counsel until after their defaults were taken and therefore, this is not 

an instance of an attorney fault declaration. The attorney’s declaration goes to the reasonable 

time to bring a motion to set aside, and the Court finds this motion has been timely brought.   

As to Defendant Hubler, Hubler claims that he was not properly served with the 

summons and complaint and seeks to set aside his default under Code of Civil Procedure 

§473.5, 473(b) and (d).  Hubler’s declaration provides evidence that Hubler was not at the 

property where service occurred. (Hubler Decl. ¶7.) Hubler states that he was not at the 

Del Oro Circle property on August 18, 2016 and that he was at home when the service 

supposedly occurred. (Hubler Decl. ¶7.) Hubler also states that he was not evading service. 

(Hubler Decl. ¶9.) 

In opposition, Plaintiff has a proof of service and a declaration signed by Maurita 

Watson. Watson is not a registered process server. (Amended Proof of Service ¶ 5(a), filed 

October 3, 2016.) In addition, Watson does not describe the person that she served on 

August 18, 2016 at the Del Oro Circle property. In her declaration, Watson states that the man 

she served matching Hubler’s description, however, Watson does not describe the man she 

served or explain how she knew what Hubler looked like. (Watson Decl. ¶3.)  

Considering the declaration of Hubler, the amended proof of service filed on October 3, 

2016 and the declaration of Watson, the Court finds that Hubler has not been properly served 

with the summons and complaint.  

Plaintiff’s argument that Hubler had notice of the complaint fails. Hubler admits that he 

first learned of this lawsuit on August 15, 2016 when Borem verbally told him about it. However, 

“[a] party cannot be properly joined unless served with the summons and complaint; notice does 

not substitute for proper service. Until statutory requirements are satisfied, the court lacks 

jurisdiction over a defendant.” (Ruttenberg v. Ruttenberg (1997) 53 Cal.App.4th 801, 808.) Thus, 

Hubler’s knowledge of the lawsuit is insufficient to show he was properly served.  

Therefore, the Court finds that Hubler has not been properly served with the summons 

and complaint and grants Hubler’s motion under sections 473(d) and 473.5.  

As to Defendant Borem, she admits that she was properly served on August 15, 2016. 

Borem argues that her default should be set aside because of “mistake, inadvertence, surprise, 

or excusable neglect” under Code of Civil Procedure §473(b). Borem’s declaration focuses on 

excusable neglect. 
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“ ‘To entitle [a party] to relief the acts which brought about the default must have been 

the acts of a reasonably prudent person under the same circumstances. [Citations.]’ ” (Jackson 

v. Bank of Am. (1983) 141 Cal.App.3d 55, 58.) Excusable neglect is not shown when a client 

was busy and occupied with other affairs. (Andrews v. Jacoby (1919) 39 Cal.App. 382, 383-

384.) Nor does the inability to afford a lawyer constitute excusable neglect. (Davis v. Thayer 

(1980) 113 Cal.App.3d 892, 905-907.) 

Borem’s declaration explains that she tried to call Plaintiff’s attorney on September 2 or 

9, but did not speak with the attorney. (Borem Decl. ¶7.) Borem says that she could not file a 

response earlier due to work and family obligations and because she could not ascertain the 

form and manner in which a response should be filed. (Borem Decl. ¶7.) Finally, Borem says 

that she hired an attorney as soon as she could do so financially, which was after her default 

was taken. (Borem Decl. ¶7.)  

Based upon the evidence presented to the Court, the Court finds that Borem’s 

declaration does not show excusable neglect. Her declaration also does not show mistake, 

inadvertence or surprise. Therefore, the Court cannot set aside Borem’s declaration under Code 

of Civil Procedure §473(b). 

  

16.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC16-02398 
CASE NAME: TYLER VS. WELLS FARGO 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION OF COURT ORDER 
FILED BY LLOYD TYLER, BEATRICE TYLER 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Vacated. 
 

  

17.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSN16-2233 
CASE NAME: CLAIM OF EDWARD HANEY VS. CONT 
HEARING ON PETITION TO/FOR ORDER FOR RELIEF FROM CLAIMS STATUTE 
FILED BY EDWARD HANEY 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 

 
The Petition for Relief From Claims Statute is denied.  The basis for this ruling is 

as follows. 
 
Government Code section 946.6 allows a party to petition to be excused from the 

requirement of presenting a government claim. 
 
The Petition may be granted under the circumstances of this case if three conditions are 

met: (1) Petitioner establishes he applied for late claim relief within twelve months after the 
accrual of his cause of action (Gov’t C. § 946.6 (c); § 911.4 (b);  

(2) Petitioner was physically or mentally incapacitated during the entire time allotted for 
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the presentation of the claim, and because of the disability failed to present a claim during that 
time (Gov’t C. § 946.6 (c)(3)); and  

(3) the Petition is filed within six months after the application to the board is denied 
(Gov’t C. § 946.6 (b)(3)). 

 
Petitioner, Edward Haney, states in the Petition that his personal injury accrued on or 

about 11/6/2012.  (Petition, p. 1.)  Therefore Petitioner needed to apply for late claim relief by 
11/6/2013 to comply with section 946.6.  Instead, the application for late claim relief closest to 
the date of accrual is noted as postmarked on 12/20/2013 to the Contra Costa County Board of 
Supervisors.  (See writing marked as Exhibit 1.)  If the application was sent on 12/20/2013 it 
does not comply with the twelve month requirement of section 946.6 (c), the first element listed 
above.  The Court is not able to directly determine the date the application was submitted, as 
the application itself is not attached to the Petition. 

 
Petitioner questions the accuracy of the postmark because the denial of Petitioner’s 

application for late claim relief to the Contra Costa County Board of Supervisors has a 
“Received” stamp indicating 01/06/2013.  However, there are five other typed and handwritten 
dates on the same form that support the postmarked date of 12/20/2013.   

 
Petitioner also states that he filed a combined initial claim and application for late claim 

relief on 01/13/2013.  (Declaration of Edward Haney, marked as Exhibit 13.)  If true, evidence of 
the claim and application for late relief on 01/13/2013 would satisfy the twelve month 
requirement of Government Code section 946.6 (c) and Government Code section 911.4 (b).  
Petitioner does not submit evidence of a claim or an application for late relief on 01/13/2013, 
however, and so the Court relies only on the evidence presented. 

 
Finally, the Court notes there is no evidence of an application for late claim relief, denied 

or otherwise, within six months of the filing date of the Petition.  The last undisputed evidence of 
a denied application for late claim relief, written by attorney Martin James Martinez, prior to filing 
the Petition, was received 02/05/2014 and denied on 03/11/2014.  (Petition, p. 1; see writing 
marked as Exhibit 6.)  As such, the Petition fails to satisfy the third element listed above.  The 
Petition was filed 12/02/2016.  As the Petition was filed more than six months from the date the 
application was denied, it does not meet the requirements of Government Code section 946.6 
(b)(3).  The Court finds the Petitioner did not establish that he filed the Petition within six months 
after his application for late claim relief was denied.  Because the Petitioner did not file his 
Petition in accordance with the timelines of Government Code section 946.6, the Court must 
deny the Petition. 
 

  

18.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSN17-0034 
CASE NAME: ALEXANDER VS. MISSION HOPE DAY 
HEARING ON PETITION TO APPROVE COMPROMISE OF DISPUTED CLAIM 
FILED BY JOAN ALEXANDER 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Appear. 
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ADD-ON 

 

19.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC13-02527 
CASE NAME: STEA VS. JP MORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A. 
HEARING ON MOTION TO COMPEL RESPONSES TO INTERROGATORIES AND 
PRODUCTION OF DOCUMENTS  /  FILED BY DANIEL STEA 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Appear. 

 

20.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC13-02527 
CASE NAME: STEA VS. JP MORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A. 
HEARING ON ORDER TO SHOW CAUSE WHY DEFT SUZANAH JURAS SHOULD NOT BE 
SANCTIONED FOR FAILURE TO APPEAR AT ISSUE CONFERENCE 2/7/17 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Appear.  

 

21.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC16-01413 
CASE NAME: HITCHINS VS. BOREM 
HEARING ON FURTHER CASE MANAGEMENT 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
See also line #15. 
 

 

 


